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BASIC DETAILS 

 

Built: c.1500 

 

Architect: Unknown 

 

Bought: 1992 from the Parochial Church Council 

 

Restored: 1992-95 

 

Architect: Peter Bird of Caroe & Martin 

 

Builders: The Landmark Trust’s own staff, principally 

      Leonard Hardy & Andrew Coward 

 

Quantity Surveyors: Bare, Leaning & Bare 

 

Furnished & let: September 1995 

 

Listed: Grade II 
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Introduction 

 

The Parish House is one of the few medieval Church Houses to survive and one 

of the very few indeed still in use as a parish meeting place. On the outside it is 

now disguised as an ordinary cottage in a row, but inside there is a great 

medieval fireplace and a splendid medieval roof. 

 

In May 1989 the Landmark Trust received a letter from the Rev. B.H.Adams, 

Vicar of Butleigh, a neighbouring parish run together with Baltonsborough, asking 

for help.  He said that the Baltonsborough Church House had for a long time been 

occupied by a verger, but he had died and the house needed so much spent on it 

that the church could not afford it and would have to sell. What worried him was 

that the ground floor room was used as a Church Room and he would like to keep 

it. Would the Landmark Trust be prepared to buy the house, and let the parish 

keep the ground floor room? 

 

The Landmark Trust was interested in such an historic little building and realised 

how important it was that its original use should continue. The arrangement was 

agreed and the Landmark Trust bought the freehold. 

 

By great good luck the next-door cottage, Church View, came up for sale at the 

same time and the Landmark Trust bought that too. About a third of the original 

Church Room, which was the main room on the first floor, extended into it and 

during the restoration that part was taken back into the Parish House. When it 

was repaired Church View was re-sold with covenants. 

 

Work started in 1993 with the Landmark Trust’s own craftsmen repairing the 

roof. It was furnished and ready for visitors in September 1995. 
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What is a Church House? 

In the 15th century, it was no longer thought appropriate to allow church ales 

and other parish feasts to take place in the nave of the church, as had happened 

in the earlier Middle Ages. At the same time the ales provided much needed 

revenue for the church house, the forerunner of the village hall, in which 

gatherings could be held in future. Most parishes did so, and the church house 

became a familiar sight in West Country villages. 

 

A typical church house was a long building, of two storeys. The upper floor was 

reached by outside steps at one end and was open to the roof. Food was 

prepared on the ground floor, in an immense fireplace that might span the whole 

width of the building at one end. Ale was brewed in the building too, of course. 

 

Church houses remained in active use for over a century. After 1600, not only 

was there a new system of poor relief, but the growing numbers of Puritans 

frowned on the traditional church feasts. By the 1630s, most church houses had 

fallen out of use or had been close down. 

 

The buildings themselves were seldom demolished, however. Some emerged in 

only a slightly different disguise, as inns. Others were put to other parish uses, as 

a school perhaps. Many became houses. The vast majority were extensively 

altered or rebuilt over the following centuries, so that they are now difficult to 

recognise. Investigation by the Somerset and South Avon Vernacular Building 

Research Group has so far traced twenty one church houses in the county, of 

which only a handful are substantially complete. One of these is at 

Baltonsborough. 

 

What can you see? 

The Baltonsborough church house was built around 1500. Like many others, it 

was converted into two cottages in the late 17th century. Additions were made 

at both ends, new ceilings and partitions were inserted, with dormer windows to 

light an attic floor, but the old roof and first floor beams were left alone. The 

steps and door to the first floor, once at its western end, are really all that is 

missing.  

 

Looking at it from the church yard, the original building ended just beyond the 

door into Church View. Its roof was thatched. The windows on the first and 

second floors were probably in much the same places as they are now, with 

timber mullions. There was a door between the two windows at the eastern end. 

Possibly the present door into the church room is a later one. 

 

In the ground floor room, the great fireplace or smoke bay can be seen, fully 

opened up and with its lintel spanning the entire width of the room. The chimney 

itself is divided by a withe into two separate flues. There were once two 

windows at the back, opposite those at the front. These were blocked when the 

wing was added. The room was originally longer than it is now, running on 

beyond the present breeze block wall to a partition set a few feet beyond. 
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Evidence for this partition can be seen by going into Church View, which is also 

the way to the first floor. In the room on the right is a beam which, although 

defaced, as mortices in it for an oak plank and muntin partition. 

 

On the first floor, the fine roof, divided by trusses into six bays, can be seen 

again, after the removal of later ceilings and partitions. The trusses are of the 

type called arch-braced. On the slope of the roof, windbraces also form arches. 

Towards the further end of what was once a single long room (where it is not 

safe to walk), a plank and muntin screen can be seen, fitted into the lower part of 

an open truss. This is a later insertion, probably dating from when the church 

house was converted into cottages. Since it did not originally have any doors in 

it, it must have been moved from somewhere else, perhaps the ground floor of 

this very building. 

 

In the1990s, the Vicar of Baltonsborough approached the Landmark Trust with 

an interesting suggestion. The parish was the owner of a rare and important 

historic building, a Church House, overlooking the churchyard. Was there a way 

in which the two could work together to ensure a sympathetic future for this 

building? 

 

What Church House really needed was long term use which would enable the 

parish to maintain its long connection with building, but remove the burden of its 

upkeep. If it was sold as a house, as had happened already with one end, the 

parishioners would no longer have the use of the room on the ground floor. The 

scheme now proposed for Landmark to take on the whole building, and to let the 

accommodation on the first floor and in the wing at the back for holidays. The 

room on the ground floor, with improved catering facilities would then be let back 

to the parish. 

 

The Church House was transferred to Landmark in 1992. At the same time, the 

cottage at the western end of the building, Church View (until then Dem Bones), 

came on the market. Since one of the most important features of the building is 

the fine medieval roof, and part of this roof was in the cottage, Landmark decided 

to buy this as well. One room on the first floor would then be returned to the 

Church House proper. The opportunity would also be taken to make the outside 

of the cottage match that of its neighbour, after which it would be sold. 

Meanwhile it provided a way of reaching the first floor. 

 

Work started on the repair and conversion in the summer of 1992 by two of 

Landmark’s own craftsmen, Leonard Hardy and Andrew Coward. The architect 

was Peter Bird of Caroe and Partners of Wells. The renovated church room was 

opened by the Bishop of Bath and Wells in May 1995. 
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The Church House 

 

During the middle ages the church was usually the only large communal building 

in the village - as no doubt it was at Baltonsborough. The villagers met in the 

church on Sunday mornings for matins and then sometimes stayed on for a 

secular meeting in the nave. On Whitsunday it was the custom to have a party, 

or 'ale' which raised money for the church, which it was the parishioners’ 

responsibility to repair. 

 

By the middle of the 15th century the puritan outlook was growing in England 

and secular parties in the church reminiscent no doubt of money lenders in the 

Temple - were forbidden. 

 

It was at this point that Church Houses were built, providing a covered space to 

be used for village parties and money-raising events. Nearly all have disappeared, 

but at one time there was a Church House in many villages, particularly in the 

West Country. They were built near the church, often, as at Baltonsborough, on 

the edge of the churchyard, but the village priest was not involved either with 

their upkeep or with their administration. They were run by the churchwarden or 

wardens, who were chosen by the villagers each year. 

 

What went on inside them we know mainly through their accounts. At Yatton in 

Somerset there are entries between 1446 and 1555 for minstrels, food and drink 

for ales always held on Whitsunday and sometimes on other feast days. In 1527 

there is an entry for ‘II dosyn and a halfe drynkyng bowls and a dosyn trenchers 

and a ladylel.’ At Croscombe, also in Somerset 'the wives dancing' raised 6s for 

the church. At Elverton in Derbyshire every husband and wife payed 2d and every 

cottager ld to come to the ale and all the profits went to the church. At Tintinhull 

in Somerset there was even a resident cook. In some parishes the parish clerk's 

salary was paid for by special clerk's ales. 
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Towards the end of the 17th century John Aubrey wrote in his Natural History of 

Wiltshire: 

There were no rates for the poor in my grandfather's days; but for Kingston 

St.Michael  (no small parish) the Church ale of Whitsontide did the 

business. In every parish is (or  was) a church-house to which belonged 

spits, crocks, etc. utensils for dressing provisions.  Here the housekeepers 

met, and were merry and gave their charity. The young people  were there 

too, and had dancing, bowling, shooting at butts, etc., the ancients sitting 

 gravely by, and looking on.All things were civil and without scandal. 

 

Richard Carew in his Survey of Cornwall (1602) makes the church ales sound like 

glorified bring-and-buy sales where 'the neighbours meet at the church house and 

there merrily feed on their own victuals, each contributing some petty portion to 

the stock' , and the churchwardens vied with each other as to who could 

contribute most towards the church. 

 

But this was not the way everyone looked on the church ales. The puritans 

disapproved of them saying they caused drunkenness and debauchery - bottle 

parties rather than bring and buys and as they took place on Sunday afternoons 

they desecrated the Sabbath. In 1603 the Justices at the Somerset Quarter 

Sessions in Wells banned them together with bear and bull baiting. The ales did 

not stop at once - they were banned again in 1612 but they gradually ceased. By 

then the vicar and the church repairs were paid for by church rates, and the 

church no longer needed the ales. 

 

The Church Houses had various fates, some turned into schools, others into inns, 

many were demolished, some were made into cottages and this is what 

happened to Baltonsborough Church House, but most unusually it remained in the 

ownership of the parish. It was made into two cottages, with another smaller 

clerk’s cottage built on to the south east corner, but the ground floor room seems 

to have been used more or less continuously as the parish meeting room: in 1840 

it was referred to as the Vestry room and it was in use in the mid 1980s. Now it 

is in use again. 
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Before plans – Ground floor 
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Before plans – First floor  
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The Building 

 

Baltonsborough Church House is now called the Parish House to distinguish it 

from Church Cottage in Wales, the first building that the Landmark Trust repaired. 

 

Originally Parish House was a long, plain, barn-like building, free standing and 

probably thatched. At its west end it had an outside stair leading up to the 

Church Room on the first floor. There was no second floor and there were no 

dormer windows. The walls would have been as they are now, coursed limestone 

locally known as lias, 27-28’ thick. The windows were probably mullions with 

leaded lights, like the north window in the first floor bedroom and were in the 

same positions as they are now. The chimney at the east end would have been 

stone. 

 

Much inside the building is unchanged since 1500. The ground floor room, now 

the parish room, but then the kitchen floor, had the same oak beams in the 

ceiling, and at the east end its most important feature, a wide fireplace or 'smoke 

bay' with a massive wooden lintel reaching from wall to wall, the whole width of 

the room, is still there. The room was slightly longer than it is now running a few 

feet into the cottage next door where there are mortices for a partition which 

would have been made of oak planks and there was another small room beyond.  

 

The original Church Room on the first floor still has its medieval roof. The trusses 

are arch-braced and wind-braces make arches on the slope of the roof. The 

purlins are chamfered and stopped at the trusses. The trusses rest on the wall-

plates - there are no wooden uprights in the walls. The Tudor churchwardens 

were economical in their building works: no timber is heavier than it needs to be 

and the result is airy and light. 

 

I 
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In the 17th century the Parish House was closed down and the building 

converted into two cottages. The outside stairs and the west gable with one 

truss were removed; about a third of the old Church House went into the new 

cottage, now Church View, and the west end of the new cottage was extended  

On the north side of the building the join between the Parish House and the 17th-

century extension can be seen quite clearly. It was probably then that the north 

wing was added. The small west window in the Landmark kitchen points to its 

being built in the 17th century and refaced in the 18th when the mullion 

windows in the main building were converted. 

 

Also at that time an attic floor was inserted with the dormer windows and gables 

that you see now. With the demolition of the outside stairs a new staircase was 

needed and was built at the east end, next to the great smoke bay. Either then or 

later a fireplace was built across the south east corner of the ground floor room. 

On the first floor a third of the Church Room became bedrooms in Church View. 

What remained in the Parish House became bedrooms too divided by an oak 

partition. 

 

At a later date a lean-to was added at the east, smoke-bay end of the present 

Parish Room, with access through the smoke bay. Another lean-to (now 

demolished) was added to the west side of the north wing. 

 

Clerk's Cottage, the small cottage attached to the north east corner of the Parish 

House was probably built in the 17th century too: it has an early window which 

looks north over the lean-tos, while its other windows were no doubt altered at 

the same time as the rest. 

 

In the 19th century the chimneys were rebuilt in brick, because the lias, which is 

a weak stone, had probably disintegrated. 
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The Landmark Trust’s Repairs 

 

When the Landmark Trust took over the building the first priority was to regain 

the experience of entering the original Church Room. To achieve this, the 17th-

century ceiling was removed. The dormer windows remained, blocked up, but the 

attic went and the fine medieval roof could be enjoyed once more. The trusses 

were intact but they needed re-pinning and repair and Leonard Hardy, who has 

worked on several Landmark buildings in the West Country, put a lot of work into 

them. They and the wall plates were cut about especially where the dormers 

were inserted and in those areas, as you can see, there is new work and a new 

wall plate on the south side. 

 

The Landmark Trust by this time had bought Church View and it was possible to 

extend the first floor of Parish House into it, taking down the wall between the 

two and rebuilding it further west, so that all the trusses except for the one that 

was pulled down when the old Church House became two cottages, are now in 

the Parish house. On the ground floor the party wall remained where it was 

before. The partitions and passages which had accumulated during its life as a 

cottage were removed except for one original 17th-century wooden screen on the 

first floor, found within later plaster-work. It was repaired and now divides the 

sitting room from the main bedroom. 

 

Steel tie-rods were inserted in several places where the walls showed signs of 

leaning outwards. 

 

No access was now needed between the new ground floor Parish Room and the 

Landmark part of the building, so the staircase was removed and re-built in a 

straight and simple form in the north wing. At the top of the old staircase there 

had been three different levels, now there is one. The door between the new 

Parish Room and the north wing lean-to was blocked up. 
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The first floor in the north wing was uncomfortably low so the level of the first 

floor was slightly altered. A new front door for the Landmark part of the house 

was inserted. On either side of the door in the kitchen is a limestone shelf that 

was probably used for maturing cheeses. 

 

Fairly extensive general repairs were needed: the house was re-roofed, using all 

the old 'double Roman' tiles that were sound; the window-frames were rotten 

and had to be renewed. One window, in the north side of the main bedroom was 

given a mullion window, like those that were there originally, the others are like 

the 18th-century windows that replaced the mullions, but they have leaded 

lights. New oak floors were laid in the first floor rooms, and the house was re-

wired. The wirescape that festooned the front of the house was removed and the 

wires run underground. 

 

A plaque by the front door saying the house was built circa 1539 by Richard 

Whiting last abbot of Glastonbury Abbey was removed as inaccurate. The Parish 

House was almost certainly built before 1539 and was not built by any abbot, 

but by the parishioners of Baltonsborough. 

 

Much thought was given as to how the rooms should be used. At one time the 

kitchen was going to be next door to the sitting room, with both bedrooms in the 

wing but in the end a ground floor kitchen with direct access to a sheltered 

sitting out area seemed obviously right. 

 

Outside, a carpark was made and Church View was given a garden separate from 

the Parish House. On the south front the low stone wall was removed and a path 

of stone flags laid. 
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The wirescape was removed and placed underground. 

 

 
 

The central chimney, the low wall and the red tiled porch were all removed. 
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The windows on the ground and first floors were rotten and had to be replaced. 

 

 
 

The attic windows were repaired and then boarded up. 
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The NW corner - now the sitting area outside the kitchen door. 

 

 
 

The roof of the lean-to was removed. 
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The original wall and window were repaired. On the right the  

Church View garden is staked out. 

 

 
 

The roof was restored to its pre lean-to shape and the coping replaced. 
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The East end. The back of  

Clerks Cottage and the old lean-tos. 

 

 
The lean-tos were demolished. Note the blocked up early window.  
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The opening for the front door. 

 

 
 

Len Hardy trying out the new door frame.  



                                                                     The Parish House History Album 

23 

 
 

The fireplace in the SW corner of the present  

parish room was removed. 
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Andy Coward at work on a window in the parish room.  

The blocked up door to the north wing is behind. 
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The sitting room looking west. 
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The 17th-century screen on the floor being repaired. 

 

 
The repaired screen in its new position.  
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The roof of the north wing needed repairs. 

 

 
Looking towards the old Church Room from 

 the north wing before the stairs were removed.  
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The old west facing window in the kitchen previously hidden by the lean-to. 

 

 
 

  One of the blocked up dormers. The wall plate, 

 damaged when the attic floor was put in, has been replaced. 
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Baltonsborough 

 

The Parish House is in a part of England that has a particularly interesting early 

history. 

 

In 1136 William of Malmesbury wrote a history of Glastonbury and in it he tells 

us that in 770, at the same time as Cuthred, King of the West Saxons, was 

endowing Glastonbury, a pious lady and benefactress, called Lulla, gave the 

Abbey 10 hides at Baltonsborough 'With all its fields, meadows and broad 

pastures, together with the whole of its alder grove and all the marsh to the west 

and north of Butleighl. William of Malmesbury describes how the Abbey boundary 

beginning at the southern end of Street Bridge, extended 'towards the east on 

the southern side of the marsh as far as the southern end of the bridge at 

Baltonsborough; thence in a northern direction from the home of the bearded 

Wulfgar, who was controller of the bridge at the time when St Dunstan was 

Abbot, and above the causeway ... through the middle of the marsh to the house 

of Norman near the mill at Baltonsborough, thence up along the path to the lane 

which comes from that church, 1 which sounds as though Baltonsborough had a 

Saxon church, although the present church, St.Dunstan's is 15th-century 

perpendicular, built at about the same time as the Parish House, and Pevsner 

mentions no earlier part. 

 

St. Dunstan was said to have been born at Baltonsborough in the 10th century 

and to have diverted the river Ure so that there was more water for the mill there. 

 

Baltonsborough continued in possession of the abbot paying him a yearly tithe of 

8s, until the dissolution of the monasteries in the reign of Henry VIII. Until then 

there was a fair in Baltonsborough on St.Dunstan's day. After the dissolution, in 

which Glastonbury suffered more severely than most other religious houses, 

Baltonsborough was given by Edward VI to the Duke of Somerset. On the Duke’s 
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attainder it reverted to the crown and was given to John Ryther Esq. He was 

followed by Sir William St.Loe. In 1791 John Codrington owned the manor. 

 

A survey roll, probably Elizabethan, describes two woods pertaining unto the 

manor, called Southwoode and Northwoode contayning 800 acres well set with 

oakes both old and young, which have always been used to be sold to the 

tenants, worth to be sold £400, wherein there may be a yearly wood sale made 

of 63s 6d.’No doubt it was from these woods that the oak for the roof of the 

Parish House came. 

 

Eli Higgins 

 

The Rev.W.Phelps, who wrote a History of Somersetshire in 1836, has a curious 

tale of a Baltonsborough farmer, called Eli Higgins. Mr.Higgins's wife had three 

daughters. Mr.Higgins was so annoyed at this that he said that if his next child 

was a daughter he would never speak to her. When his wife’s confinement 

approached he repeated his vow. The child was a boy and there was much 

rejoicing; but when he began to talk he would speak normally to his mother, 

sisters and any woman but would never utter a word to his father or any man. 

 

On the death of Mr.Higgins, in 1831, when the son was 30, he began to speak 

quite normally to men as well as women. He is now (1836) married and farms. 
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